MAY 12 2014

2

1

3

4

5

6

7 8

9

10

11

12

13

937 MICA DRIVE, SUITE 16A CARSON CITY, NV 89705 (775) 392-2313

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

2627

28

MAY 12 2014

TRACIE K. LINDEMAN
CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
DEPUTY CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

In Re: Rotation Schedule

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT I.

This appeal is brought under NRAP 3(b)(1) following the entry of a final order on November 27, 2013 denying consolidated petitions for judicial review. The petitions for judicial review challenge the actions of the Nevada State Engineer imposing a rotation schedule on Appellants' vested water rights from the North Branch of Sheridan Creek. The Nevada State Engineer imposed rotation schedules for the entirety of the 2012 and 2013 irrigation seasons on all water rights users. Although the petitions for judicial review were consolidated with the pending adjudication case (08-CV-0363), they were designated as subproceeding D-1 and treated as a separate matter.

The petitions for judicial review proceeded to a hearing on October 17, 2013, before the Hon. Nathan Tod Young. The written Order was entered on November 27, 2013. Judge Young declined to address the merits of the petitions for judicial review on the basis that the rotation schedule was ordered in a previous order that was entered in the adjudication case (08-CV-0363) on April 5, 2012. Judge Young did not address the question of whether that prior has preclusive effect under the doctrines of issue preclusion or claim preclusion. Appellants filed their Joint Notice

23

24

25

26

27

28

1

4

5

8

of Appeal in this case on December 23, 2013 (App. Vol. 5 at 1063).

II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The overriding question in this case is whether the Court and the Nevada State Engineer can subject Appellants' vested water rights to a rotation schedule based on the preference of a bare majority, in this case six (6) of eleven (11) claimants.

This appeal presents the following issues for review:

- Whether the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment 1. ("Judgment") that was entered in Case No. 08-CV-0363-D on April 5, 2012 is a final judgment that precludes the petitions for judicial review by operation of the doctrines of claim preclusion or issue preclusion. This is a question of law.
- Whether a rotation schedule can be imposed over the objection of the 2. water rights users under NRS 533.075. This is a question of law.
- Whether a compulsory rotation schedule violates the Final Order of 3. Determination in Case No. 08-CV-0363. This is mixed question of law and fact.
- Whether a compulsory rotation schedule violates the non-impairment 4. statute, NRS 533.085. This is a question of law.
- Whether the rotation schedule alters the historical flow. This is a 5. question of fact.
- Whether the rotation schedule improperly sends water from Gansberg 6. Springs to claimants who do not enjoy rights to Gansberg Springs. This is a mixed

2

3

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

question of law and fact.

Whether the rotation schedule is (a) in violation of constitutional or 7. statutory provisions, (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the State Engineer to impose, (c) affected by other error of law, (d) not supported by substantial evidence, and/or (e) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order denying consolidated petitions for judicial review of the actions of the Nevada State Engineer. The petitions for judicial review challenge the actions of the Nevada State Engineer imposing a rotation schedule on Appellants' vested water rights from the North Branch of Sheridan Creek. Appellants enjoy vested water rights which have been proven, accepted, adjudicated, and decreed in Case No. 08-CV-0363 free from conditions, including rotation. The State Engineer maintains that he was required to impose a rotation schedule pursuant to the *Judgment* entered by the Hon. David R. Gamble on April 5, 2012, after the trial in Case No. 08-CV-0363-D (App. Vol. 4 at 759-775). However, that trial concerned a Diversion Agreement which benefits Bentley (App. Vol. 3 at 436-443). The Diversion Agreement is a separate issue from the rotation schedule that is the subject of this appeal. The issue of the rotation schedule was not tried in Case No. 08-CV-0363-D. The Judgment is not a final judgment (See Case No. 60891), expressly states that the order regarding the rotation schedule will not be part of the forthcoming final decree, and the parties stipulated and the *Judgment*

ordered that Bentley reserved the right to petition for judicial review:

- 15. The parties made the following stipulations in relation to these Exceptions at the beginning of the trial, which were adopted by the Court:
 - a. Exception 1, in part, was that the State Engineer would not attempt to include a rotation schedule in the Decree itself, but that the provisions of NRS 533.075 and the order of this Court would be used to determine when and if a rotation schedule is needed to efficiently use the waters of the State of Nevada. However, Bentley reserves all objections to the imposition of a rotation schedule, including objection about the statutory authority to do so. (*Judgment*, App. Vol. 4 at 762).

Nevertheless, the *Judgment* included a directive to the Nevada State Engineer to impose a rotation schedule on all users when the flow of the North Branch of Sheridan Creek drops below 2.0 cfs. (*Judgment*, App. Vol. 4 at 773).

NRS 533.075 was the only basis for the rotation schedule cited in the *Judgment*. However, that section only authorizes rotation schedules upon agreement from the water users, and when read in conjunction with the non-impairment statute, NRS 533.085, precludes the court and the State Engineer from imposing compulsory rotation schedules on vested claims.

IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. The Nevada State Engineer filed the *Final Order of Determination* in Case No. 08-CV-0363 ("FOD") on August 14, 2008. (App. Vol. 2 at 222-456). Among other things, the FOD adjudicated the vested rights that pre-existed the adoption of Nevada's water statutes for various stream systems on the east slope of the Carson Range of the Sierra Nevada Mountains located in Douglas County,

3

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

Nevada. Claimants were given until five (5) days prior to the scheduled hearing on April 1, 2008 to notice any exceptions to the FOD. The FOD has the effect of a complaint, and any exceptions filed thereto have the effect of an answer. "There shall be no other pleadings in the case." NRS 533.170.

- 2. This case concerns the North Branch of Sheridan Creek which was one of the stream systems adjudicated in the FOD. Bentley included a list of the eleven (11) interested parties to the North Branch of Sheridan Creek as determined by the FOD as Appendix A to its Opening Brief in the proceedings below (App. Vol. 1 at 133). This list is also provided herewith as Appendix A. Appendix A summarizes the approved acreage and the pro rata ownership. Bentley, Smith, and Barden are Appellants herein. Bentley also leases Pestana's water rights. Sapp has not appeared in these proceedings. Hall Ranches, LLC, Thomas J. Scyphers and Kathleen M. Scyphers, Frank Scharo, Sheridan Creek Equestrian Center, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company, Ronald Mitchell and Ginger Mitchell, and Donald S. Forrester and Kristina M. Forrester (collectively, "Intervenors") intervened in the proceedings below (App. Vol. 1 at 113-116).
- Sheridan Creek splits into the North Branch and the South Branch. The 3. North Branch has approximately sixty percent (60%) of the flow, 2.1 cfs from a measured flow of 3.5 cfs. (FOD, App. Vol. 2 at 388). Flows in the North Branch of Sheridan Creek are also supplemented by two additional water sources, Stutler Creek and Gansberg Spring. The water from those sources is captured by collection

2

3

4

5

6

7

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

boxes and piped into the North Branch of Sheridan Creek below the split with the South Branch. (See FOD, App. Vol. 2 at 89; 418-419; see also Analysis of the Distribution System and the 2011 Rotation Schedule Pertaining to the Waters of the North Diversion of Sheridan Creek and its Tributaries prepared by Michael Stanka, P.E. ("Stanka Report"), App. Vol. 3 at 522). The North Branch of Sheridan Creek enters property owned by Bentley, from where it can be split three (3) ways through a series of water boxes, pipes, and the original Sheridan Creek ditch/creek bed to reach the various claimants. The Stanka Report provides the best illustration of the three (3) way split in the delivery system for the North Branch of Sheridan Creek (App. Vol. 3 at 522).

- Bentley purchased 12.93 acres of property located on Sheridan Lane in 4. Douglas County, Nevada, from Theadore and Kathleen Weber on May 6, 2006. (App. Vol. 3 at 463). The Webers had earlier submitted four (4) proofs of claim for vested water rights in 1994, including:
 - V-036305 for irrigation rights from Sheridan Creek; i.
- ii. V-03606 for overlapping irrigation rights from Stutler Creek, commingled with Sheridan Creek;
- V-03607 for stock water and wildlife rights from Sheridan iii. Creek;
- V-06308 for stock water and wildlife rights from Stutler Creek. iv. (App. Vol. 4 at 579-641).

5. Appellant Joy Smith is the owner of vested water rights, Proof V-06346, to the waters of the North Branch of Sheridan Creek and the commingled waters of Stutler Creek (App. Vol. 4 at 643). This claim also covers property owned by Daniel and Elaine Barden.

- 6. Bentley, Smith and Barden also have an interest in permit 7595, Certificate 1760, to the water of Gansberg Spring, which is also commingled with the waters of North Sheridan Creek (See FOD App. Vol. 2 at 88). Although Gansberg Spring and Permit 7595 are referenced in the FOD, Gansberg Spring was permitted under Nevada's water statutes and is not one of the pre-existing, vested rights adjudicated in the FOD.
- 7. Although properties owned by Sheridan Creek Equestrian Center and Ronald and Ginger Mitchell have rights to North Sheridan Creek, those properties do not have any rights or claim to Gansberg Springs, Permit 7595, Certificate No. 1760 (FOD, App. Vol. 2 at 315, 445; Stanka Report, App. Vol. 3 at 509).
- 8. The FOD approved all of the vested claims listed on *Appendix A*, including the Weber/Bentley proofs, without reference to a rotation schedule. (App. Vol. 2 at 418-420).
- 9. Bentley appeared in Case No. 08-CV-0363 to file their *Notice of Exceptions* to the FOD on December 10, 2008 after learning that some of the claimants were going to demand a rotation schedule. (App. Vol. 3 at 457-475). Bentley requested in Exception No. 1 of the *Amended Notice of Exceptions* to be

2

4

5

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

exempt from any forthcoming rotation schedule, especially when doing so would have the effect of nullifying a Water Diversion and Use Agreement that was recorded in the Official Records of Douglas County, Nevada, on 27 March 1987, at Bk. 387 Pg. 2726, Doc. No. 152147 ("Diversion Agreement"). (App. Vol. 3 at 436-443). The Diversion Agreement was not referenced in the FOD; however, it was explained in Proof Nos. V-06307 and V-06308 and formed part of the support for those proofs (App. Vol. 3 at 477, 481; App. Vol. 4 at 601, 611). Those proofs were accepted in the FOD (App. Vol. 3 at 468-475).

- Bentley filed the Amended Notice of Exceptions on March 25, 2009 to 10. correct some additional errors regarding the approved acreage (App. Vol. 4 at 476-491).
- The proceedings on Bentley's exceptions were severed from the main 11. adjudication case and proceeded as Case No. 08-CV-0363 subproceeding D. On November 19, 2009, Intervenors filed a document in Case No. 08-CV-0363-D called Response and Objections to Notice of Exceptions and Exceptions to Final Order of Determination ("Response") (App. Vol. 5 at 880-883). Intervenors' Response was essentially a complaint, set forth as a series of affirmative defenses, that requested

Bentley also sought to correct some small errors in the FOD that were not contested and are not at issue in this appeal.

1

7 8

10

9

11

12

13

15

14

16

17

18

19 20

21

22

23

24

25

26 27

28

Trial on subproceeding D commenced on January 9, 2012. At the 12. outset of trial, the parties stipulated, and the Court clarified and ordered, that a rotation scheduled would not be imposed as part of the adjudication and order in Case No. 08-CV-0363. This resolved Bentley's Exception No. 1. All of Bentley's other exceptions were also resolved by stipulation. All stipulations were reflected in the April 5, 2012 Judgment (App. Vol. 1 at 158-160). Only the stipulation on Bentley's Exception No. 1 is relevant to these proceedings:

- The parties made the following stipulations in relation to these Exceptions at the beginning of the trial, which were adopted by the Court:
 - Exception 1, in part, was that the State Engineer would not attempt to include a rotation schedule in the Decree itself, but that the provisions of NRS 533.075 and the order of this Court would be used to determine when and if a rotation schedule is needed to efficiently use the waters of the State of However, Bentley reserves all objections to the Nevada. imposition of a rotation schedule, including objection about the statutory authority to do so. (See Judgment App. Vol. 1 at 158).

² Hon. David R Gamble refused to dismiss the affirmative defenses even though it was not part of answer, did not constitute a pleading under NRCP 7 and is prohibited in a statutory adjudication case wherein the Order of Final Determination filed by the State Engineer is considered the complaint and any exceptions filed thereto are considered the answer(s). NRS 533.170. "There shall be no other pleadings in the cause." NRS 533.170(2). Bentley petitioned this Court for a writ of prohibition and/or mandamus and cited Smith v. District Court, 113 Nev. 1343, 1344-45, 950 P.2d 280, 281 (1997) as controlling authority for seeking a writ to compel dismissal of a non-conforming pleading. This Court dismissed the writ petition due to a defect in the proof of service without first directing Bentley to either complete service or correct the proof of service to demonstrate that service was completed (See Case No. 56351).

13. Because all of Bentley's exceptions were resolved by stipulations at the outset of trial, there were no issues left to try regarding the adjudication. However, the Court clarified that it wanted to proceed with trial on the Intervenors' claims and defenses contained in their *Response* regarding the Diversion Agreement. None of those claims and defenses involved a rotation schedule. (See excerpts from transcript, App. Vol. 1 at 136:16-138:8).

14. Despite the foregoing stipulation that the Decree <u>would not</u> impose a rotation schedule, Senior Deputy Attorney General Bryan Stockton, on behalf the State Engineer, requested in closing argument for the Court's direction on a rotation schedule. Smith and Barden were not parties to the proceeding and Bentley was denied an opportunity to respond. Consequently, the *Judgment* that was entered on April 5, 2012 ordered, in pertinent part, as follows:

- 5. When the combined flow from the North Diversion of Sheridan Creek and tributaries drops below 2.0 cfs, the State Engineer shall impose a rotation schedule.
- 6. The rotation schedule shall be in effect from the time the North Diversion of Sheridan Creek drops below 2.0 cfs until superseded, until the flow rises to above 2.0 cfs or until the schedule is stayed or modified by this Court.
- 7. The rotation schedule shall be prepared at the beginning of the irrigation season to allow review by this Court, under NRS 533.450, if any party challenges the schedule.
- 8. The State Engineer has full authority to implement a rotation schedule if appropriate.
- 9. The rotation schedule shall reflect any agreements between the parties.

(Judgment, App. Vol. 1 at 169:17-170:5)

15. The *Judgment* did not contain any findings that warranted a rotation schedule, and the portion of the *Judgment* that ordered the rotation contradicted the stipulation that a rotation schedule would not be part of the decree.

- 16. On April 13, 2012, the State Engineer circulated an email which informed the parties that the measured flow had dropped below 2.0 cfs and that the rotation schedule was in effect (App. Vol. 1 at 186). As of that date, Bentley was required to rotate its use of water and was precluded from drawing water except during the allotted time set forth in the rotation schedule, included as App. Vol. 1 at 173-184. Bentley was not allowed to use its water outside of the allotted time and its water was sent downstream for the benefit of the other claimants.
- 17. The State Engineer proceeded to impose rotation schedules for the entirety of the 2012 and 2013 irrigation seasons on all water rights users, including Smith and Barden, even though they were not parties to subproceeding 08-CV-0363-D or the *Judgment*. (See Rotation Schedules, App. Vol. 1 at 173-184 and Vol. 5 at 917-927).
- 18. The rotation schedules made no distinction between the vested claims to North Sheridan Creek that were adjudicated in the FOD and Case No. 08-CV-0363, and water rights from Gansberg Spring rights, Permit 7595, Certificate 1760. As such, Sheridan Creek Equestrian Center and Ronald and Ginger Mitchell have been able to use the water from Gansberg Springs on rotation, even though they

have no rights to Gansberg Springs.

19. Smith and Barden petitioned for judicial review of the 2012 rotation schedule on April 30, 2012. (Case No. 12-CV-0141) (App. Vol. 1 at 1-18). Bentley also petitioned for judicial review of the 2012 rotation schedule on May 3, 2012 (Case No. 12-CV-0145) (App. Vol. 1 at 19-38). Smith, Barden and Bentley filed a joint petition for judicial review of the 2013 rotation schedule on April 25, 2013 (Case No. 13-CV-0121) (App. Vol. 5 at 884-899). All petitions were consolidated and designated as Case No. 08-CV-0363, subproceeding D-1. Hall Ranches, LLC; Thomas J. Scyphers and Kathleen M. Scyphers; Frank Scharo; Sheridan Creek Equestrian Center, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; Donald S. Forrester and Kristina M. Forrester; and Ronald R. Mitchell and Ginger G. Mitchell intervened in those cases. (See Motions, App. Vol. 1 at 39-48 and 49-58; and Order, App. Vol. 1 at 113-116).

- 20. The petitions for judicial review proceeded to a hearing on October 17, 2013 before the Hon. Nathan Tod Young. Judge Young entered a ruling from the bench in which he declined to address the merits of the petitions because the rotation schedule was authorized by the *Judgment*. (Excerpts from Transcript, App. Vol. 5 at 1039-1043). The written *Order* followed on November 27, 2013 (App. Vol. 5 at 1046-1051). Smith, Barden, and Bentley noticed their *Notice of Joint Appeal* on December 23, 2013 (App. Vol. 5 at 1063).
 - 21. Judge Young issued another Order on April 10, 2014, in which he

4ATUSKA LAW OFFICES, LTD 937 MICA DRIVE, SUITE 16A CARSON CITY, NV 89705 (775) 392-2313

denied Intervenors' *Motion to Amend Order to Include an Award of Costs* (App. Vol. 5 at 1066-1071). In this Order, Judge Young confirmed his understanding that the *Judgment* in Case No. 08-CV-0363-D preserved Bentley's right to petition for judicial review regarding the imposition of a rotation schedule.³ He did not explain, however, why he simply deferred to the *Judgment* and declined to hear the petitions for judicial on their merits.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

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