1		
2		
3	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF NEVADA
4		
5	J.W. BENTLEY and MARYANN	Electronically Filed May 15 2015 08:44 a.m.
6	BENTLEY, TRUSTEES OF THE	May 15 2015 08:44 a.m. Supreme Court Care K. Lindeman 64773 Clerk of Supreme Court
7	BENTLEY FAMILY 1995 TRUST; JOY SMITH; DANIEL BARDEN;	64773 Clerk of Supreme Court (Consolidated with Supreme Court Case Nos.
8	and ELAINE BARDEN,	66303 & 66932)
9	Appellants,	District Court
10	v .	Consolidated Case No. 08-CV-0363-D1
10	STATE OF NEVADA, OFFICE OF THE STATE ENGINEER; DONALD S.	
	FORRESTER; KRISTINA M. F	
	ORRESTER; HALL RANCHES, LLC; THOMAS J. SCYPHERS; KATHLEEN M.	
	SCYPHERS; FRANK SCHARO; SHERIDAN CREEK EQUESTRIAN CENTER, LLC;

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT.

3 Limited Respondents HALL RANCHES, LLC, a Nevada 4 Liability Company, THOMAS J. SCYPHERS, KATHLEEN M. SCYPHERS, 5 FRANK SCHARO, SHERIDAN CREEK EQUESTRIAN CENTER, LLC, a Nevada 6 Limited Liability Company, DONALD S. FORRESTER, KRISTINA M. 7 FORRESTER, RONALD R. MITCHELL and GINGER G. MITCHELL, 8 hereinafter Intervenors, agree with the Jurisdiction 9 2 Statement contained in paragraphs 1, and 3 of the 10 11 Bentleys' Opening Brief. With respect to paragraph 4, 12 Intervenors believe that the January 4, 2013, Order awarding 13 attorney fees and costs to the Intervenors, 4 SA 825-830, 14 has become merged into the Decree and may be reviewable 15 under the cases hereinafter cited, infra, at pages 50-51.

# 17 II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>.

18 The Intervenors agree with the Routing Statement 19 provided by the Bentleys.

### 20 || III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Intervenors agree with the Statement of Issues
presented by the Bentleys for review as it is their appeal.

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This appeal rises from the adjudication of multiple vested water rights located in Carson Valley pursuant to NRS 533.090-533.435. On August 14, 2008, the State Engineer

28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

1 filed his Final Order of Determination ("FOD") of the 2 relative water rights with the district court. 2 JA 190-424. 3 4 The Bentleys filed certain exceptions thereto. Exceptions, 1 5 JA 192-491. Intervenors filed their Response and Objection 6 to Notice of Exceptions and Exceptions to Final Order of 7 Determination. Response, 1 SA 85-88. The district court 8 accepted the Response as a pleading and proceeded to hear 9 the Bentleys' Exceptions as well as the Intervenors' 1.0Response at trial on January 9, 2012. Intervenors prevailed 11 on all matters set forth in their Response. 12 13 On April 5, 2012, the district court entered Findings 14 of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment, determining that 15 under the specific facts and circumstances of the matters 16 presented at trial, the State Engineer should impose a 17 rotation schedule under certain terms and conditions. 18 Finding of Fact, 1 JA 154-171; 5 SA 974-990. The district 19 court also made a partial award of attorney fees and costs 20 21 to Intervenors. 5 SA 833-838. 22 Since the entry of the Findings of Fact, the Bentleys 23 taken several appeals and have filed several Petitions 24 before this Court, as follows: 25

Writ proceeding (Case No. 56531 - dismissed) Appeal (Case NO. 56551 - dismissed) Appeal (Case No. 59188 - dismissed) Appeal (Case No. 60891 - dismissed)

28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

26

27

1 Appeal (Case NO. 64773 - pending) 2 Appeal (Case No. 66303 - pending) 3 A11 current and remaining appeals have been 4 consolidated by Order of this Court entered on January 22, 5 2015. 6 v. 7 STATEMENT OF FACTS. 8 The essential facts involving this matter are amply and 9 fully set forth by Respondent State Engineer in his brief 10 filed herein, and are incorporated herein for brevity. See 11 NRAP 28(i). 12 On September 29, 2014, the Final Decree was entered 13 which adopted and included the Findings of Fact, Conclusions 14of Law and Judgment as Appendix C. 5 SA 848-849. 15 16 Significantly, in its Findings of Fact, the district 17 court also found and determined, 5 SA 984: 18 44. Mr. Bentley, through intimidation and threat, attempted to bully the Intervenors, acting in a 19 manner to harass and financially exhaust the 20 Intervenors. 21 45. Bentleys brought and maintained their 1 Exception No. relating to the Diversion 22 Agreement without reasonable grounds. 23 \* \* 24 The Bentleys proceeded in this matter under 48. 25 an erroneous theory and under an erroneous thought therefore, process, and their action was 26 maintained by them without reasonable grounds. 27 28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE 3 POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505

(775) 348-7011

1	
2	limited in nature. NRS 533.450(1). On appeal, this Court is
3	to review the evidence upon which the State Engineer based
4	his decision to ascertain whether the evidence supports the
5	decision, and if so, the Court is bound to sustain the State
6	Engineer's decision. <u>State Engineer v.</u> Curtis Park, 101 Nev.
7	
8	30, 32, 692 P.2d 495 (1985). Purely legal issues or
9	questions may be reviewed without deference to an agency
10	determination. However, the agency's conclusions of law that
11	are closely related to its view of the facts are entitled to
12	deference and will not be disturbed if they are supported by
13	substantial evidence. Town of Eureka v. State Engineer, 108
14	Nev. 163, 165-166, 826 P.2d 948 (1992).
15	As generally discussed by this Court in Weddell v. H2O,
16	Inc., 128 Nev.Adv.Op. 9, 271 P.3d 743, 748 (2012):
17	
18	The issues on appeal require us to review the district court's factual findings, as well as
19	interpret statutory and contractual provisions. "The district court's factual findings are
20	given deference and will be upheld if not clearly
21	erroneous and if supported by substantial evidence." Ogawa v. Ogawa, 125 Nev. 660, 668, 221
22	P.3d 699, 704 (2009). "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as
23	adequate to support a conclusion." Whitemaine v. Aniskovich, 124 Nev. 302, 308, 183 P.3d 137, 141
24	(2008). Issues involving statutory and contractual
25	interpretation are legal issues subject to our de novo review. See <i>Canarelli v. Dist. Ct.</i> , 127 Nev.
26	,, 265 P.3d 673, 676 (2011)(declaring that ``[w]e review the district court's conclusions of
27	law, including statutory interpretations, de novo'" (quoting Borger v. Dist. Ct., 1021, 1026,
28 IALL	1010 (quoting Dorger V. Dist. Ct., 1021, 1026,
ND LAW NGTON	-

COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

1 102 P.3d 600, 604 (2004))); Benchmark Insurance 2 Company v. Sparks, 127 Nev. \_, 254 P.3d 3 617, 620 (2011) (providing that "'[i]nterpretation of a contract is a question of law that we review 4 de novo'" (quoting Farmers Ins. Exch. V. Neal, 119 Nev. 62, 64 P.3d 472, 473 (2003))). 5 VII. OVERVIEW OF NEVADA STATUTORY WATER LAW. 6 Except as otherwise noted hereinafter, the Intervenors 7 8 have no particular objection to or concerns with the 9 Bentleys' description and presentation of Nevada Water Law. 10 VIII. ARGUMENT - ROTATION SCHEDULE. 11 The Parties Agreed That a Rotation Schedule May be Α. 12 Authorized in the Decree. 13 At the commencement of the trial in this matter, the 14 parties stipulated and agreed that a rotation schedule would 15 16 not be included in the Decree, and if later imposed by the 17 State Engineer, the Bentleys reserved the right to contest 18 The transcript of this portion of the trial the same. 19 provides, 6 SA 1030-1031; 1 TR 10:1 - 13:10: 20 MR. STOCKTON: So, we haven't actually put that 21 into writing yet, but we worked out an agreement. 22 23 And so what we've agreed is it was never our 24 intention to put a rotation schedule in the decree. [S]o there won't be a rotation schedule in 25 the decree, but State Engineer still retains his flexibility statutory to impose rotation а 26 schedule if need be. 27 28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 6 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON POST OFFICE BOX 3948

AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

1 THE COURT: Which is going to happen in four 2 months. I agree . . . that the Exceptors [the 3 Bentleys] . . . have continually opposed the imposition of a rotation schedule. If it were not 4 in the decree, and perhaps there could be a recitation in the decree that the State Engineer 5 retains [the Bentley's] right to oppose such a rotation schedule in a given water year it if 6 became necessary. 7 MR. HALL: That's satisfactory. 8 9 THE COURT: Okay. So with regard to exception 10number 1, I believe it's a stipulation of the 11 parties that the final decree itself will not contain a rotation schedule, but that the State 12 Engineer will retain [his] statutory authority to impose such a rotation schedule within [his] 13 discretion in a given water year . . . . Is . . . that an accurate recitation of it, Mr. Stockton? 14 15 MR. STOCKTON: Yes, Your Honor. 16 THE COURT: Do you agree with that Mr. Hall? 17 MR. HALL: Yes, sir. 18 19 THE COURT: And, Mr. Matuska, do you stipulate to 20 the same? 21 MR. MATUSKA: Yes, except that we've opposed the the legal authority of the State Engineer to 22 impose a rotation schedule in the first place, but the way that the stipulation is being presented it 23 isn't an immediate issue for us today. Ostensibly 24 we would have the right to object to or oppose or even appeal an action from the State Engineer in 25 the future. 26 THE COURT: Agreed. 27 28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON

7

AVENUE

POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

1 The case proceeded on the basis of that stipulation and 2 agreement. See Findings of Fact, ¶ 15(a), 5 SA 977. 3 4 в. The Rotation Schedule Allows All Parties the 5 Ability to Receive Their Share of Water. 6 In 2008, after their purchase, the Bentleys dismantled 7 the Intervenors' water diversion structures, pipes, ditches 8 and water boxes. They thereafter built a second larger and 9 unlined, water-consuming pond. Exhibit 29; 7 SA 1378-1379; 1011 6 SA 1052-1053; 1 TR 98:20 - 101:10. 12 Because of the geographic location of the Appellants' 13 property, being where Sheridan Creek and Stutler Creek first 14 flows onto the Appellants' property, above the Intervenors' 15 properties, the Appellants are able to divert the entire 16 water during times of scarcity, flow of shortage and 17 thereby depriving the Intervenors of all water drought, 18 19 during such periods of low flow. 6 SA 1056; 1 TR 115:18 -20 116:23. 21 Within five (5) months, the Bentleys initiated hearings 22 bn the FOD by filing their Notice of Exceptions and 23 Exceptions to Final Order of Determination on December 11, 24 2008, wherein they declared that their water rights were 25 subject to a Diversion Agreement "and the Bentley property 26 27 should be exempt from the rotation to the extent of 28

THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 39488 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

2 diverting water through the ponds for stock watering and/or 3 wildlife purposes." [Emphasis added.] 3 JA 427:7-11.

4 Following extensive pre-trial discovery, motions, 5 hearings, orders and a non-jury trial before District Judge 6 David R. Gamble, he determined under the specific facts and 7 circumstances presented in the record, that rotation shall 8 be imposed by the State Engineer whenever water flows drop 9 below 2.0 cfs, at the level the district court determined 10 that all users would not be receiving their full complement 11 and flow of their vested water rights. 6 SA 988,  $\P$  5 and 6. 12

# 13 1. <u>The Pre-statutory Vested Water Rights Held By The</u> 14 Parties Can Be Modified By Court-Ordered Rotation.

Because all the water rights considered in this case were vested in 1852 and 1905, before statutory provisions were later legislated, these pre-statutory vested water rights are not subject to the limitations contained in the rotation-by-consent only statute, NRS 533.075.

Throughout this nation, and apparently throughout the world, rotation of water rights has been imposed on nonconsenting users. Here, solely by virtue of their superior geographic location and with their two existing ponds, the Appellants have no motive, incentive or reason to share scarce water in times of low flow. They have actually used

28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON AVENUE POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

1

1 the entire flow during times of scarcity contrary to the 2 historic custom, common law and principles of 3 equity, 4 fairness and justice. 5 SA 1056; 1 TR 116:8-16. 5 There are three types of water rights recognized in a) 6 Nevada. 7 In the of Andersen Family case Assocs. v. State 8 Engineer, 124 Nev. 182, 188-189, 179 P.3d 1201 (2008), this 9 Court elucidated the classifications and attributes of the 10 various water rights in Nevada stating: 11 Generally, "[t]he term 'water right' means . . . 12 the right to divert water by artificial means for 13 beneficial use from a natural spring or stream. In Nevada, there are three different types of 14water rights: vested, permitted, and certificated. First, "vested" rights are those that existed 15 under Nevada's common law before the provisions currently codified in NRS Chapter 533 were enacted 16 in 1913. These rights may not be impaired by 17 statutory law and may be used as granted in the original decree until modified by a later permit. 18 Second, "permitted" rights refer to rights granted State Engineer after the approves a party's 19 "application for water rights." Such permits grant the right to develop specific amounts of water for 20 a designated purpose. Third, "certificated" rights statutory rights granted 21 are after а party perfects his or her permitted water rights. In 22 order to perfect permitted water rights, an applicant must file proof of beneficial use with 23 the State Engineer. Once proof has been filed, the State Engineer will issue a certificate in place 24 of the permit. [Emphasis added.] 25 In footnote 6, this Court noted: 26 The Legislature enacted NRS 533.085(1) to avoid 27 any unconstitutional impingements on water rights 28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND 1.0 COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON POST OFFICE BOX 3948

AVENUE

RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

1 were in existence at the time Nevada's that 2 statutory water law went into effect. Manse 3 Spring, 60 Nev. at 288-89, 109 P.2d at 315. 4 In the present case, all the parties' pre-statutory 5 vested water rights have common dates of priority of 1852 6 and 1905, and are classified as vested water rights. 8 SA 7 <u>1</u>630. 8 acquired before 1913 only Rights can be lost or 9 adjusted in accordance with the law in existence prior to 10 11 the time of the enactment of Nevada statutory water right 12 provisions. In Ormsby County v. Kearney, 37 Nev. 314, 352-13 853, 142 Pac. 803 (1914), this Court explained: 14 The greater portion of the water rights upon the streams of the state were acquired before anv 15 passed prescribing method of statute was а appropriation. Such rights have uniformly been 16 recognized by the courts as being vested under the 17 common law of the state. Nothing in the act shall be deemed to impair these vested rights; that is, 18 they shall not be diminished in quantity or value. As they are all prior in time to water rights 19 accordance secured in with later statutory provisions, such priorities must be recognized. 20 [Emphasis added.] 21 See, J. Davenport, Nevada Water Law, at 13-14 (2003). 22 The common law is applicable to all the courts of the 23 24 State of Nevada as set forth in NRS 1.030, as follows: 25 1.030. Application of common law in courts. 26 The common law of England, so far as it is not repugnant to or in conflict with the Constitution 27 and laws of the United States, or the constitution 28 THOMAS J. HALL ATTORNEY AND COUNSELOR AT LAW 305 SOUTH ARLINGTON

11

AVENUE

POST OFFICE BOX 3948 RENO, NEVADA 89505 (775) 348-7011

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